## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| RICHARD ALLEN JOHNSON, | ) |      |     |
|------------------------|---|------|-----|
| Appellant,             | ) |      |     |
| v.                     | ) | CASE | NO. |
| STATE OF FLORIDA,      | ) |      |     |
| Appellee.              | ) |      |     |
|                        | ) |      |     |

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit

CAROL STAFFORD HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

GARY LEE CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida Florida Bar No. 256919 Attorney for Richard Allen

421 Third Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

(561)355-7600

Johnson

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Richard Allen Johnson appeals his convictions and sentences for murder, kidnapping, sexual battery, and grand theft. R5 625. The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 11-1. R5 656. The judge imposed a death sentence for the murder. R6 913.

A. On February 14, 2001, Tammy Hagin, Anthony Carrick (Hagin's brother), and Joshua Taylor (a friend of theirs) went to Club Babylon in Port St. Lucie. T22 1490-1496. There they became acquainted with appellant and his friend John Vitale. T22 1481-82, 1497-99, 1523-24. After several hours of talking and drinking, they all went to a house owned by Adrienne Parker. T22 1500-04, 1535. Living in the house were appellant, Vitale, Parker, Thomas Beakley, and Stacy Denigris. T22 1535-36.

After drinking and playing pool, Carrick and Taylor left, but Hagin stayed with appellant and Vitale. T 22 1504-05. Shortly before dawn, Vitale drove appellant and Hagin to Savannas State Park, a recreation area, where appellant and Hagin had sex. T23 1688-95. The three then returned to the house. Id..

That morning, Hagin was strangled in a bedroom shared by appellant and Vitale. (See the discussion below.) Appellant and Vitale then bought a large cooler, some chains, and concrete

blocks. T23 1639-45, T27 2067-71, T24 1725. They went to the house of Shane Bien, who refused to help them. T 23 1711-12. At Savannas, they rented a canoe, and dumped the body in the water, weighted with concrete blocks attached by a chain. T24 1726-32. They returned to the house and moved to another residence. T24 1734-35. When the body was found on February 19, the vaginal area had been cut or ripped out, as discussed below.

Catherine Shipp, who lived across the street, testified that between six and seven a.m., shortly before Hagin's death, she heard blood curdling screams and saw a woman sitting in the back of a dark green car. T22 1563-64. (There was no dispute about the facts that the woman was Hagin and the car was Vitale's.) The woman tried to get out of the car, but appellant would not let her out. T22 1565. She screamed, "saying just let me go home." Id. She tried to get out of the other side, but Vitale prevented her from getting out on that side. T22 1566. The woman got out of the back seat and walked toward the front of the car, and turned to get in the front when appellant grabbed her in a bear hug and took her in the house. Id. She resisted, kicking her feet a little bit and holding the door frame. T22 1567. She screamed "I don't want to go in and clean up." Id.

Beakley said he was sleeping in a bedroom in the house and

woke up hearing a woman crying or screaming, "let me go, let me go, I want to go home." T23 1599-1600. He sent his girlfriend Denigris out to investigate, and went out himself five minutes later, at which time Denigris was upset and talking to Vitale. T23 1600. He went back to sleep. T23 1602.

Denigris testified to hearing someone saying she wanted to go home. T23 1620. Going out of her room, she saw a woman with a backpack holding a door frame. <u>Id</u>. Appellant grabbed the woman around her waist and yanked her back into the bedroom, giving Denigris a dirty look. T23 1620-21, 1624. After talking to Vitale, Denigris went back to sleep. T23 1625.

Parker slept through this entire incident on a couch in the living room. T22 1546.

Much of the trial centered on the question of whether appellant or Vitale killed Hagin. Each of them gave different accounts at different times.

Vitale testified for the state that appellant and Hagin had consensual sex at Savannas, and then Hagin could not decide whether she wanted to go home or back to appellant's and Vitale's house. T23 1691-95. Vitale "just said, well, I'm going back to the house now and when you decide, everybody decides what they want to do, then you let me know." Id. When they got to the house, appellant and Hagin argued; she now

wanted to go home, and appellant wanted her to come inside the house. T23 1695. Vitale got out of the car, and entered the house, and when he came back out "they were coming in and [appellant] was behind her and he had his arm around her waist and like pushing her in. He had his hand in-between in hers, pushing her in." T23 1696. She was talking very loud, but not screaming, and said she wanted to go home and also wanted to go to the bathroom. Id.

In the house, appellant would not let her go to the bathroom. T23 1696-97. As Denigris came out of her bedroom, appellant yanked Hagin into his and Vitale's bedroom. T23 1699. Vitale talked with Denigris and Beakley, and it was quiet in appellant and Vitale's bedroom. T23 1699-1701. Appellant later came out, said Hagin was sleeping, and went to the bathroom. T23 1702. Appellant had left the bedroom door ajar; Vitale went to close the door and saw Hagin lying on the bed. T23 1703-1704. When appellant came out of the bathroom, he was crying and said she's gone, I broke her neck. T23 1703-1705. Vitale went to the bedroom and saw that she was all purple, black and blue, her eyes were open, and there were marks on her neck. T23 1705. He and appellant set about disposing of the body as discussed above.

While in jail, Vitale wrote letters to various persons

saying that he had drugged appellant and had killed Hagin while appellant was passed out in the bed, and that he had let appellant think that he (appellant) had killed her. SR2 168-205. He said he had written these letters at appellant's urging. He was in love with appellant and appellant had led him to believe that his love would be returned if he took responsibility for the murder. T25 1893-1900. The state put into evidence letters from appellant to Vitale in which he urged Vitale to confess, told him to emphasize various facts and claim that he acted in the heat of passion, urged him to have his confession notarized, and expressed love for Vitale. SR1 56-123.

examiner testified The medical that Haqin died strangulation. T28 2213. On the left side of the neck there was a ribbon like contusion or bruise right around the neck, which had the "appearance of a ... ligature type." T28 2205. On the right side of the neck were bruises "more consistent with a sort of a manual type gripping, strangulation". T28 2207. There was a pre-mortem cut on the scalp that could have been caused by a knife. T28 2201-04. There was some "very superficial type bruising," on the face. T28 2209. As to the

<sup>1</sup> Vitale had also originally told the police that he and appellant had dropped Hagin off at a Pizza Hut. T25 1894.

cutting or tearing of the perineal area, he said that it seemed to be cutting, but he could not definitely attribute that injury to a cutting, and could not rule out that it was caused by marine life. T28 2220-21.<sup>2</sup> The tip of the coccyx was broken as a result of application of some force. T 28 2222. It may have occurred when the body was dropped into a hard bottom of a cooler. T28 2233. Hagin had a blood alcohol reading of .186, although .04 or .06 of that may have resulted from decomposition. T28 2231-33.

Shane Bien said they arrived at his house around 9:00 a.m., and appellant looked like he had been up all night, like he was on cocaine. T26 2033-34. He said he killed a dude, then changed it and said he killed a woman, saying she was the most annoying person that he ever met and that she tried to stab him with an object. T26 2034-35. He offered Bien \$150 to help them, saying he had got the money from the woman he killed. T26 2039.

In a taped statement to the police, appellant initially said

<sup>2</sup> One officer testified that, based on his experience of seeing a total of about 30 bodies in water over many years, marine life did not eat the body. T11 1376, 1379-80. A member of the dive team testified that he did recall having ever seen major body trauma from marine life over a lengthy career. T11 1406-07. Appellant denied having cut the body, and Vitale did not testify to being involved in or having seen any such cutting

he and Vitale left Hagin at a Pizza Hut around dawn. T29 2287. He then said that they were having sex and Hagin was not fighting him; he said, "I put my hand on her neck and she died." T29 2291. He was drunk, he could barely see and was spinning. T29 2292. He kind of lost it. T29 2293. He remembered they had sex, he put his hands around her, she was not screaming, she did not struggle. T29 2294. He did not realize he had killed her until after she wasn't moving any more; it didn't really click that he killed her. T29 2297. He got up and said for her to get up, and she didn't get up. T29 2310. It looked like she had passed out, and he shook her. Id. He told Vitale he thought she was gone, and he was crying. T29 2311. Asked if he pulled her in the house from the driveway, he said he remembered having her by her hands, and she said she wanted to go; he was pulling her and she walked back in; he was telling her that they would leave soon. T29 2237-38. He could not believe he killed her. T29 2239.

Appellant testified that he had consensual sex with Hagin at Savannas and that Vitale and Hagin then began arguing in the car. T30 2422-23. Vitale wanted to take her home, and she did not want to go home. <u>Id</u>. Appellant began arguing with Vitale, who got fed up and drove them to the house. T30 2423. At the

of the body.

house, Vitale got out, but Hagin would not get out of the car, and they all began arguing loudly. T30 2424. Appellant did not remember forcing Hagin to get out of the car. T 30 2425. She walked in the house, although appellant did grab her, not to stop her from leaving but to calm her down because she was ranting and raving; she wanted to go home and also wanted to stay. Id. She didn't know what she wanted. T30 2425-26. In the house she was still screaming; she followed him to the room, but then she turned around and he grabbed her. T30 2426. She said something but he was not sure what, and he thought she was just going to keep arguing so he pulled her back in the room. Id.

In the room, they started talking, and she started kissing him. T 2427. They had sex and then appellant passed out. Id. The last thing he remembered was her pulling up the covers. Id. She may or not have had a chain or necklace on. T 2427-28. Later, "I woke up and I tried, I tried to get her up and she wouldn't move. I shook her. She still wouldn't move and that's when I checked her pulse and after I checked her pulse I realized she was dead." T 2428. He ran to Vitale, and told her she was gone. Id. Vitale replied that appellant had killed her. Id.

Vitale confessed to appellant that he killed Hagin before he

wrote the letters confessing to killing her. T30 2484. The letters that appellant wrote to Vitale were part of a plan the two formed in which they referred back "to our statements and see what kind of information we could get and we'd try to make up a good confession. But in doing so, I found in John's statement there was inconsistants [sic] and stuff that I knew weren't true and couldn't be true, and that's when I confronted John, because what I believed to be the truth -- and then he confessed in a different confession." T30 2463.

B. At the penalty phase, the state presented testimony that appellant was on community control at the time of the murder. T34 2784-88. It also presented testimony from Harding's brother and mother regarding their loss. T34 2792-96.

Appellant's mother, Sandy Johnson, testified that appellant's father "beat me up, pulled knives on me, shot guns in the house." T34 2801. "One time I was hanging up the clothes on the clothes line and he told the kids to shoot mommy. And I didn't know that there were blanks in the gun at the time and he shot a hole through the kitchen window. He brought a knife on me one time and his mother intervened and said if you want to stab somebody, stab me." T34 2801-02. He was a violent drunk who would pass out in front of the children. T34 2802. He would kick appellant's sister Danielle with steel toed boots.

T34 2803. He choked Sandy with her shirt, causing a burn and scab on her neck. T34 2812. He split her head open, he threw her out of the house naked. <u>Id</u>. If awakened during the night, he would become violent, hitting and swinging, apparently as a result of his experiences as a soldier in Vietnam. T34 2800.

He would knock the kids around and she called the law many times. T34 2828-29. The couple broke up "countless times." T34 2804. Appellant had nightmares while in kindergarten and first grade. T34 2805. His grades went downhill when the father moved away for good. T34 2806-08. The father moved to the Virgin Islands and stopped paying child support. T34 2807-08.

Sandy got engaged to another man. T34 2810. He drank a lot. T34 2811. He beat appellant black and blue. T34 2810-11.

Sandy drank from when she got home from work until she went to bed. T34 2813.

She married a man named Frank Speres. T34 2815-16. He had problems with the kids.  $\underline{\text{Id}}$ .

Sandy testified that appellant set fire to a neighbor's field when he was nine. T34 2818-19. As a teenager, he took money which she had been sent to visit her dying father. T34 2818. At the time of the murder, he was on community control because he had taken her car. T34 2816-17.

The testimony of appellant's brother, David Johnson, Jr., and his sister Danielle Blount, confirmed and amplified Sandy's testimony.

David hated it when the father was around on weekends. T34 2839. The father was always drinking, always had an attitude. T34 2840. Asked what the father did when he was drinking, David replied: "Yell, scream, fight." Id. He yelled and screamed at all of them, fought with Sandy, spanked the children. Id. He would take the children to bars. T34 2840-41. He would stay there for hours, leaving the kids to wait in the car or beg for money to play pool. Id. He "would wake up in the middle of the night screaming, hollering. You know, yelling at us to get down, get behind and covered. And one time I remember he threw my sister across the room." T34 2841. He often "would have us go out to the woods and get a stick" to hit them with for stupid stuff like leaving a toy lying around. T34 2842-43.

The mother, Sandy, was drunk a lot. T34 2844. It was "like she was in her own little world". <u>Id</u>. She sometimes passed out when it was late. <u>Id</u>. She was working at Publix and also had a night newspaper route, sometimes taking the children with her. T34 2844. They were too tired to go to school. T34 2845.

Danielle characterized the relationship of the parents as "Horrible." T34 2862. She explained (id.):

They would fight a lot. He would stay gone most of the night, come home drunk, wanting to fight and argue with her. He would hit her, beat her up. One day my mother picked me and my brothers up from my aunt's house because that's where we were staying when she was at work, he got home and he chased her all over the yard. She ran to my grandmother's house, nobody answered the door. She would come running back over to the house and went to hit her, he hit the bedroom window and split his arm open. And she grabbed me and we ran off to my cousin's house.

The father "would always pick me and my brother, little brother [appellant] up, throw us across the room." T34 2863. He once threw her across the room onto a couch, then dropped a tool box on her with nails hanging out of it and a nail went into her stomach. Id.

She said of his nightmares: "I would wake up in the middle of the night to see what the commotion was because he would normally make a lot of noise and he would jump on top of me. One night he had a gun in his hand, yelling at me, get down you fucking kook, you get down, you want to die, get down. He would always go back to kook. I presume it was from the Nam era."

Id.

He would beat them with sticks. T34 2864. He drank all the time; he took them to bars and drank there all night. Id.

Later, Sandy would go out drinking at night, leaving the children to fend for themselves or to go to a neighbor's. T34 2864-65.

When the family lived in Stuart, Danielle and appellant would stay with their grandmother and Uncle Mike. Mike "was mean. He hurt Richard." T34 2866. She continued (id.):

When Richard got up hungry he would, I thought, would go over there and get an apple pie, a frozen apple pie out of the freezer or out of the back patio, but he was crawling through the back window in the back of the house in the door getting it out of the kitchen freezer, I didn't know that. When my Uncle Mike caught him one time, and I just happened to be with him, he took him into the bathroom and filled the tub up with water and ice cubes and threw my brother in it and told him if he was bad, this is what he got, this was his punishment. And he had assaulted my brother, started messing with his private parts.

Appellant was about three or four at the time. <u>Id</u>. There were numerous incidents between appellant and Mike. T34 2867. Danielle would see the after effect with his penis being red because it was burning. Id.

Their teen-age cousin Dean "taped Richard up with duct tape, taped his arms up to the bed post, put duct tape over his mouth and would suck on his penis." T34 2868.

Sandy became involved with Pat Kent, who was abusive. "If we would come home from the bus late Pat would be there. If we were late, even five minutes late he would get a belt and hit us with it, call us names, tell us we were stupid." T34 2869.

In school, appellant would fall asleep in class, having nightmares and they would come and get Danielle out of class to help settle him down. T34 2871. He was always failing in

middle school, he hated it. <u>Id</u>. The family never pushed education. T34 2872. After the divorce, Sandy would get up before two a.m. to do the paper route, and would take the kids with her, then she would come home, get dressed and go to work at Publix. T34 2873. She did not sit down to help the kids with their homework. Id.

The stepfather, Frank Speres, did not like the children. T34 2874. He felt one brother was a "goody two shoes", and he considered appellant "the horrible child. He was the demon as Frank would call him." Id.

Dr. Theodore Williams, a psychologist, cast more light on the family background. The father's abuse of Sandy began almost immediately after the marriage. T35 2925. During the marriage, she was abused, dramatically beat up, thrown against the wall, and the kids witnessed these kinds of things. Id. The children

... described how they would be awakened in the night by the father who was typically intoxicated. He would have the children line up, put a pistol in their hand and make them point it at their brother's head. There were periods of time where he would ... come up behind Richard's mother and grab her and say I'm going to slit your throat. Guns were shot off, windows broken, people dragged out in the back yard, statements of mommy's going to die, mommy's going to die today. And all the kids were there. And certainly how it affected Richard early on is he began to manifest some symptoms, what's referred to in our profession as posttraumatic stress disorder, is another way.

T35 2925-26.

There was "a lot of domestic violence, not talking, just yelling, screaming, somebody throwing cups, we're talking about pretty significant abuse by dad against all members of the family." T35 2926. All of this resulted in disturbed behavior which was not treated. T35 2931. Appellant developed a dysthemic disorder. T35 2932.

One time someone "put a rope around Danielle and Richard's neck, strung them over a tree, pulled them up off their feet and then laughed about it as they turned blue and shook all over the place. It was only when the grandfather came out and cut them down that they were let down." T35 2946-47. Their brother Chris masturbated appellant, tried to sodomize him, and brutalized Danielle as well. T35 2947.

## Dr. Williams testified T2934-35:

Well, you know, you take an individual who, you know, is born with a predisposed set of coping skills, you subject them to violence, sexual abuse, physical abuse, emotional abuse and over a period of time you end up with an individual of tragic coping skills. Richard's case, low frustration tolerance, impulsivity, depression, anxiety. Certainly trust was a big issue for them, which is not surprising, he really didn't trust people. And certainly is going to affect his ability to, you know, hold things together over a long period of time. And indeed, to his credit, Richard did fairly well in his special education program up until I believe early adolescence And I just don't think he could, he could started. continue with his current coping skills. What we see is, during this period of time we have obviously being physically, sexually and emotionally abuse, that's ongoing.

At first appellant did fairly well in school, but was in a special education class. T35 2937. He had borderline low average to borderline mental retarded verbal skills, and had a hard time learning or communicating. Id. He had average nonverbal skills, but scored at 81 (on the cut between borderline retarded and low average) for verbal skills. T35 2938. He was in special education classes until around age 12. T35 2939.

At this time, the abuse was continuing, and his mother was diagnosed with a brain tumor. <u>Id</u>. He couldn't keep up with everybody, he was in special education classes, likely to be teased by his peers. T35 2939. His grades went down and he dropped out. T35 2940.

Williams explained appellant's fire-starting (T35 2941-42):

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