IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC04-1972

RICHARD ALLEN JOHNSON,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631

Debra Rescigno
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0836907
1515 N. Flagler Dr., 9th Floor
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone: (561) 837-5000
Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing a second re-direct of Vitale. As the trial court noted, he was the State's witness so it could have recalled him to testify about the statement. Further, the trial court was equally liberal to the defense, also allowing it a second re-cross. As such, the defense had an opportunity to make the last impression on the jury the impeachment of Vitale. Finally, Johnson has failed to cite any cases requiring reversal. Hitchcock v. State, 673 So.2d 859, 861 (Fla. 1996), is inapplicable. That case was a re-sentencing of a capital murder during which the feature of the State's case was to portray Hitchcock as a pedophile, improper aggravation. The State called the victim's sister, who testified, on direct, that Hitchcock had been

sexually abusing her sister before her murder and had threatened to kill both girls if they told their mother. On cross, defense counsel asked why the sister waited 17 years after he sister's death to come forward with this testimony. Thereafter, on redirect, the State elicited testimony from the victim's sister that Hitchcock had sexually abused her also. This Court held it was error to permit the State to re-direct on that material because it did not explain, correct, or modify the testimony on cross. This Court reversed because of the combined effect of several errors.

Here, in contrast to Hitchcock, Tammy's statement corrected the testimony on cross and re-cross accusing Vitale of committing the murder. Finally, even if this Court finds error in the admission of the testimony, any alleged error was harmless. There were several eyewitnesses in this case who saw Johnson force Tammy into the house that morning against her will. Mrs. Shipp, the neighbor from across the street heard her blood-curdling screams and her begging to not go inside. Once inside, Tom and Stacy heard her crying and begging to go home. Vitale, an accessory-after-the-fact agreed that Tammy was taken into the house against her will and then taken into Johnson's bedroom where she died. Johnson himself admitted that he killed

Tammy. Moreover, the medical examiner testified that Tammy was beaten about the face (had bruising on the face) and had been struck/cut with a knife-like object in the head. He also agreed that her death was not sudden, stating that it took a lot of force to strangle Tammy. When oxygen is cut off to the brain, it usually takes 15-30 seconds for a person to pass out, and about 3-4 minutes of further strangulation to die. Thus, Tammy had to make her dying plea before she passed out, which was at least 3-4 minutes before she died and therefore, there was sufficient evidence of premeditation that the statement did not affect the jury's verdict.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO TRY JOHNSON (Restated).

Acknowledging that he failed to raise this issue below, Johnson argues that fundamental error occurred in this case when the trial court allowed the State to amend the Indictment and consequently, he argues, all of the resulting convictions are a nullity. Johnson's claim lacks merit because the State did not amend the Indictment; rather, it properly filed an Information adding an additional charge.

Johnson was indicted by the grand jury for first-degree murder, kidnaping, sexual battery and third degree grand theft

(ROA. 1, 1-2). On April 28, 2004, pursuant to rule 3.151(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, the State filed a Motion to Consolidate the grand jury Indictment with an Information it had filed charging Johnson with robbery(ROA. 4, 601). A hearing was held on the motion on April 30, 2004, at which defense counsel raised no objection to the consolidation (ROA. 11, 378-82). The State noted at the hearing that the grand theft count would be nolle prossed, becoming just a lesser-included offense. The parties also agreed that they would insert the robbery charge into the Indictment for purposes of reading it to the jury but would inform the jury it was an Information.

Relying upon Akins v. State, 691 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), Johnson argues that it was fundamental error to instruct the jury on robbery because the Indictment did not charge robbery. Johnson contends that the Information filed by the State charging robbery, which was consolidated with the Indictment, was a constructive amendment of the Indictment which was improper. As a result, he claims, all of the convictions are a nullity.

Johnson's reliance upon <u>Akins</u> is misplaced. In that case, the defendant was charged by Indictment with attempted first-degree felony-murder, to which he pled guilty. Prior to his

sentencing, the crime of attempted first-degree felony-murder was declared unconstitutional by the Supreme Consequently, at sentencing, the parties stipulated substituting the crime of attempted first-degree felony-murder with attempted first-degree premeditated murder and sentenced the defendant on those. The First District held that the convictions for attempted first-degree premeditated murder were a nullity, noting that the Indictment did not charge attempted first-degree premeditated murder and could not be amended by stipulation of the parties. The Court stated, however, that the State had the option of filing an Information charging a valid offense on remand.

In contrast to Akins, the parties here did not amend the Indictment by stipulation. Rather, the State followed the proper procedure of filing an Information charging the robbery and then the parties agreed to consolidate it with the Indictment. Thus, the procedure employed in this case was entirely different than that used in Akins. As Akins acknowledges, the State has the option of filing an Information to charge additional crimes. Thus, the State's actions were proper. Further, "the test for granting relief based on a defect in the charging document is actual prejudice to the

fairness of the trial." Akins, at 588. Here, the jury rejected the robbery charge which means that Johnson could not have suffered any prejudice. Consequently, Johnson's convictions must be affirmed.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ALLOWED IMPEACHMENT OF THE DEFENDANT BY CONTRADICTION (RESTATED)

Johnson asserts that the court erred by allowing the State to question him, on cross-examination, regarding the veracity of the eyewitness testimony provided by roommates Stacy and Tom regarding the night of the murder. The State submits that Johnson has failed to preserve this precise argument for appeal. Further, Johnson failed to object to the question which referred to Tom's truthfulness, but instead, objected only to the question asking whether Johnson had heard Tom's testimony. Finally, impeachment of a criminal defendant who takes the stand is allowed under the evidence code, as is impeachment of a witness by pointing to contradictory evidence. The conviction should be affirmed.

Admissibility of evidence is within the trial court's sound discretion, and its ruling will not be reversed unless there is a clear abuse of discretion. Ray; Zack; Cole. (See Point II)

Substantial deference must be paid to the court's ruling. <u>See</u> Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000).

At trial, Johnson took the stand and gave his version of the events that evening. According to Johnson, Vitale wanted to take Tammy home right away after her brother left but she didn't want to go home. (ROA Vol. 30, 2412-20). About thirty minutes later they attempted to take her home, but she wouldn't tell them her address, she wanted to stay. They drove around and Tammy wanted to stop for cigarettes/bathroom so they did at a gas station. Tammy took Vitale's keys so he would not leave her there. Afterwards, they went to the Savannas where they had sex 30, 2421-30). Thereafter, she and Vitale began (ROA Vol. arquing as they were driving around and they ended up going back home at around 7:00 a.m. According to Johnson, Tammy was ranting and raving outside; he claimed she didn't know what she wanted to do but then went inside and had sex again with him. Johnson asserts that he passed out after sex and when he got up, Tammy was not moving. On cross-examination, he agreed that he admitted to the police that his hands were on her neck while they were having sex, when she died (ROA.31, 2489-2500). also agreed that he heard the medical examiner's testimony stating that it took a lot of force to strangle Tammy, but

denies applying that force (ROA.31, 2501-10). He was then asked about his roommate, Tom's, testimony and the following colloquy occurred:

STATE: Okay. Now you heard Tom say that he heard a woman screaming, high pitched scream, I think is what he said, and then he heard crying and a woman's voice saying let me go, let me go, I want to go home. Did that happen?

JOHNSON: Yeah, it happened. She also said she wanted to stay. But she wasn't crying, she was more like whining, like complaining. She wasn't crying.

STATE: You heard his testimony, is that truthful testimony or not?

JOHNSON: It's true but she wasn't crying.

STATE: So he wasn't telling the truth? Are you saying that he was not accurate, what he said wasn't telling the truth?

JOHNSON: He never seen her, so how could he know she was crying.

STATE: Well, now, didn't he come in this courtroom and say that he heard a woman crying, thought it was Adrienne?

JOHNSON: Yes, and I just told you she wasn't crying, she was whining.

STATE: I'm not asking you what happened, I'm asking you did you hear Tom's testimony?

(ROA.31 2514-15). At that point defense counsel objected for the first time, stating "I object, he's asking his recollection of another witness's testimony. He's trying to answer. Not

given an opportunity to answer." "He's asked the same questions over and over and over again." (ROA.31, 2515). The trial court overruled the objection, but warned the State to be careful about being repetitive. The questioning continued

STATE: Did you hear his testimony that he heard the woman crying, heard a high pitched scream and then heard her say, let me go, let me go, I want to go home?

JOHNSON: I don't remember him saying high pitched, but I do remember him saying that she was crying, but he didn't see her.

STATE: Is that truthful or not, was she or was she not crying?

JOHNSON: She was not crying.

STATE: Okay. Then you heard Stacy say that she heard her crying?

JOHNSON: Heard her when she was walking out of the room. She didn't say that she was crying.

STATE: Okay. She said she had heard crying then went out and the woamn was holding the sides of the casing and you yanked her back in the room?

JOHNSON: I didn't yank her, I pulled her.

STATE: So what you're telling us is that testimony is not true?

JOHNSON: Stacy said pulled, not yanked.

STATE: Did she not say yanked when she was in here?

JOHNSON: She said pull.

STATE: Did she not say in a prior statement yanked twice in one sentence?

JOHNSON: Can't remember what was in her statement, but I do remember what she said here, she said pull.

STATE: Now, you've seen the statement, haven't you?

JOHNSON: A while ago I've seen it, but I can't remember word for word.

STATE: You've seen everything that the State had?

JOHNSON: Right here.

STATE: Read it all, studied it all, you knew she said yanked before she came in here?

JOHNSON: I don't remember that. Can't remember what she said.

STATE: Didn't you hear that testimony here?

JOHNSON: She said pulled.

STATE: Couple days ago. Do you recall what she did when she got on that stand and she did that, showing how you got her back in the room?

JOHNSON: Yeah.

STATE: Is that true?

JOHNSON: Yes.

STATE: Is what you did?

JOHNSON: Pulled, yes.

(ROA Vol. 31 2525-17). Johnson argues that the trial court improperly allowed the State to question him about the veracity of Tom and Stacy's testimony; however, it is clear that Johnson failed to raise that precise argument below, instead arguing that it was repetitive and that he was not being given an opportunity to answer the question. Consequently, this claim has not been preserved for appellate review because the precise argument was not presented to the trial court. See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)(holding except for fundamental error, an issue will not be considered on appeal unless it was presented to lower court; to be cognizable, "it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below"). Further, a review of the record shows that Johnson failed to object to the questions asking whether Tom's testimony was truthful. Instead, defense counsel objected only to a single question, which asked if Johnson had heard Tom's testimony. Consequently, even if this Court reaches the merits, Johnson will have to show fundamental error.

Turning to the merits, it is clear that the claim is not persuasive. Under Florida's evidence code, a criminal defendant who takes the stand to testify during trial places his

credibility at issue. See Booker v. State, 397 So.2d 910, 914 (Fla. 1981)(holding that a defendant who takes the stand as a witness in his own behalf occupies the same status as any other witness and all the rules applicable to other witnesses are likewise applicable to him."); Brown v. State, 580 So.2d 327, 328 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). Further, section 90.608(5), Florida Statutes (2006) recognizes that a witness's credibility may be attacked by pointing out evidence that contradict's witness's testimony. See e.g. C.M. v. State, 698 So.2d 1306, 1307 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)(holding that State was entitled to present evidence contradicting defendant's testimony that he fled the scene to avoid a truancy arrest); Garcia v. State, 564 So.2d 124, 127 (Fla. 1990)(holding that it was permissible to introduce payroll record to contradict testimony of witness that defendant was working on particular day). Thus, it was entirely proper for the State to be pointing out the inconsistencies between Tom and Johnson's testimony.

The cases relied upon by Johnson are inapposite. In Knowles v. State, 632 So.2d 62, 65-66 (Fla. 1993), this Court held that questions asking one witness whether another witness has **lied** on the stand are improper; however, this Court found the error harmless because Knowles testified he did not remember

making certain statements so the improper questions did not necessarily lead to the conclusion that he was lying. See also Sullivan v. State, 751 So.2d 128, 129-30 (Fla. 2000)(holding that questions posed to the defendant asking whether the police officers were lying were improper reversible because Sullivan had denied making the statements the police attributed to him); Boatwright v. State, 452 So.2d 666 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (permissible for prosecutor to establish, key defense witness, the during cross-examination of a differences between the witness's testimony and that of earlier state witnesses; however, improper for the prosecutor to ask the witness whether each of the earlier witnesses had been lying). 16 Here, in contrast to Knowles, the State never asked Johnson whether Tom was lying. While the State did ask, at one point, whether Tom's testimony was accurate, whether he was telling the truth, Johnson never objected to that question and it does not constitute fundamental error. Fundamental error is defined as the type of error that "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not

¹⁶ Johnson also cites several out-of-state cases for the same proposition-that it is improper to ask a defendant whether another witness is lying (IB 51-52). These cases are inapplicable for the same reason as Knowles.

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